IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC05-781 Lower Tribunal Case No. 78-0041-CFA

ROBERT ANTHONY PRESTON, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert T. Strain
Florida Bar Number 0325961
Assistant CCRC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL - MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Dr. - Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
(813) 740-3544
Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Robert Anthony Preston,

Jr.'s current motions for post-conviction relief which were brought pursuant to Fla.

R.Crim.P. 3.850/3.851.

Citations shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the 1981 trial proceedings shall be referred to as R ____ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The 1986 postconviction record on appeal will be referred to as "PC1-R. ___" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The 1991 re-sentencing record on appeal shall be referred to as "RS. ___" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The current post-conviction record on appeal will be referred to as PC2-R or Supp.R. ____ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

This appeal is being filed in order to address substantial claims of error under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida constitution.

These claims demonstrate that Mr. Preston was deprived of his right to a fair and reliable trial and that the proceedings resulting in his conviction and death sentence violated fundamental constitutional imperatives. Furthermore, as to the denial of Mr. Preston's motions for post-conviction relief, there has been an abuse of

discretion and a lack of competent evidence to support certain of the trial judge's conclusions.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Because of the seriousness of the claims at issue and the stakes involved, Robert Anthony Preston, Jr., a death-sentenced inmate on Death Row at Union Correctional Institution, urges this Court to permit oral argument on the issues raised in his appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Seminole County, Florida, entered the judgment of conviction and death sentence at issue.

Mr. Preston was indicted on January 20, 1978, by a grand jury in Seminole County, Florida on first degree murder and other charges. (R. Vol. XII 2188-89). Trial commenced on June 1, 1981. At the close of the first phase of the trial, the jury found Mr. Preston guilty of first degree murder, kidnapping and robbery but found Mr. Preston not guilty of the charge of sexual battery. The jury thereafter rendered an advisory verdict of death by a vote of seven to five (R. Vol. XI 2036).

On November 6, 1981, the Court sentenced Mr. Preston to death (R. Vol. XII 2103-05, Vol. XV 2733). The trial court entered written findings (R. Vol. XV

2813-19). A timely direct appeal was filed and this Court affirmed Mr. Preston's conviction and sentence. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 939 (Fla. 1984).

On October 9, 1985, Governor Bob Graham denied clemency. A motion for relief pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 was filed in the Circuit Court for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit and an evidentiary hearing was held in October, 1986. After the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Preston filed a supplemental pleading setting forth newly discovered evidence in the form of sworn affidavits (PC1-R. Vol. VII 1263-88). This supplemental pleading alleged that Mr. Preston was innocent; that his brother, Scott Preston, had confessed to several people that he was responsible for the murder at issue; that Scott was involved with a Marcus Morales; and that a representative of the State Attorney's Office had this information a year before Mr. Preston's trial. The circuit court denied relief on February 13, 1987, without addressing the newly discovered evidence (PC1-R. Vol. VII 1307-13).

Mr. Preston appealed to this Court from the denial of his 3.850 motion. On May 26, 1988, the Court affirmed the denial of Mr. Preston's Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, indicating that the claims arising from the newly discovered evidence could be presented in a *coram nobis* action. Preston v. State, 528 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1988); cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1072, 109 S.Ct. 1356, 103 L.Ed.2d 824 (1989). Such an action was taken, and relief was denied. Preston v. State, 531 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1988).

On August 25, 1988, a second death warrant was signed. The United States Supreme Court granted a stay of execution pending the disposition of a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. The United States Supreme Court denied *certiorari* review on March 6, 1989, Preston v. Florida, 489 U.S. 1072, 109 S.Ct. 1356, 103 L.Ed.2d 824 (1989) and a third death warrant was signed on March 30, 1989. Mr. Preston had, before that date, filed a Rule 3.850 motion challenging the constitutionality of a previous conviction that was presented to the jury at the trial and relied upon by this Court to establish aggravation and rebut mitigation. An evidentiary hearing was conducted before Judge Mize who, thereafter, granted Rule 3.850 relief. The State took an appeal from Judge Mize's ruling, oral argument was conducted, the District Court of Appeals affirmed, the State moved for rehearing, rehearing was denied, and the District Court of Appeals issued its mandate on March 8, 1990.

Mr. Preston filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus with this Court on April 19, 1989, presenting the claim predicated upon <u>Johnson v. Mississippi</u>, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). The Court granted a stay of execution on April 19, 1989, and remanded the claim by denying habeas corpus relief without prejudice to raise the same argument by 3.850 motion in the trial court. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 120, 121 (1990) <u>quoting Preston v. Dugger</u>, 545 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1989)(unpublished opinion).

Mr. Preston thereafter filed a Rule 3.850 motion presenting the claim predicated upon Johnson v. Mississippi. The trial court denied relief. An appeal was taken to this Court. The Court reversed the death sentence and ordered a new penalty phase proceeding conditioned upon Mr. Preston not being re-convicted of the vacated felony used in aggravation. Preston v. State, 564 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1990). Mr. Preston was acquitted of the vacated felony at jury trial.

In January, 1991, a new penalty phase jury sentencing was held. The jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three but the court granted a motion for a new penalty phase (amid allegations that one of the jurors had not accurately responded to *voir dire* interrogation) and the jury recommendation was vacated. In April, 1991, another penalty phase jury was impaneled and evidence was presented. The jury unanimously recommended a sentence of death (RS. Vol. VI 1130). In May, 1991, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Preston to death (RS. Vol. IX 1674-78).

An appeal of the re-sentencing was taken to this Court. The Court affirmed the death sentence. Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1992). The United States Supreme Court denied *certiorari* on March 22, 1993. Preston v. Florida, 507 U.S. 999, 113 S. Ct. 1619, 123 L.Ed.2d 178 (1993).

On May 24, 1994, Mr. Preston filed a new Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences with Special Leave to Amend (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. I 01).

With leave of court, it was amended on March 21, 1995 (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. I 97), and February 25, 2000 (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. VII 1081). A supplement was filed as to Claims 41 and 42 on August 13, 2002 (PC20Supp.R. Vol. X 1709). A hearing was held on September 1, 2000, pursuant to the then existing Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(c), for determining which claims would be set for evidentiary hearing. The trial court rendered its order, pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), on September 19, 2000.¹

On January 7 and 27, 2004, the trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing for testimony, generally, on Claims 6 and 39 (PC2-R. Vol. I 230).² The trial court rendered its order denying the motion on March 31, 2005. (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. XIII 2124). Notice of Appeal was timely filed on April 25, 2005. (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. XIII 2188). This appeal is properly before this Court.

¹The court granted an evidentiary hearing on Grounds 1, 4, 6, 17 (encompassed by Claim 4), 18, 23, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 35, 36, and 39. Claims 40 and 41 were denied without prejudice. (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. VIII 1380).

²Pursuant to the court's order of November 6, 2001 (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. X 1666), the Appellant filed notices with the court on November 26, 2001 (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. X 1668), and December 31, 2003 (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. XI 1869), informing the court that no testimony, evidence or witnesses would be presented by the Appellant at the evidentiary hearing on Claims 4, 17, 18, 19 [sic], 23, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, and 35. The error on December 31, 2003, in listing Claim 19, rather than Claim 29, was brought to the court's attention by the Appellant's written closing argument (PC2-Supp.R. Vol. XIII 2068).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. 1981 Trial/Guilt Phase

At approximately 1:45 p.m. on January 8, 1978, the nude and mutilated body of Earline Walker was discovered by Detective James Martindale of the Altamonte Springs Police Department lying in an open field adjacent to Bear Lake Road and State Road 436 in Seminole County, Florida (R. Vol. III 585-588). Identification of the body as being that of Earline Walker was made at the scene by office George Aldrich of the same police department. He had known her as an employee of a Little Champ convenience store located within the area of his patrol duties. (R. Vol. III 516-17; 526).

Earline Walker's body had sustained multiple stab wounds and lacerations, the most serious of which had resulted in near-decapitation, completely severing the trachea, carotid arteries and jugular veins (R. Vol. V 854-78). Nine of the victim's ribs had been fractured. (R. Vol. V 870-71).

The decedent's abandoned automobile was discovered earlier that day pursuant to an Altamonte Springs BOLO near the field and parked on the wrong side of the road where the body was located. This location was about one and one-half miles from the convenience store where the victim worked. (R. Vol. III 569, 591-Vol. IV 603). When discovered, the auto contained two purses (one of which contained Earline Walker's identification items), some clothing and a plastic

laundry basket. A cigarette pack was found lying on the console area of the front and a set of keys belonging to a Marcus Morales was found in the front ashtray.

(R. Vol. IV 604, 667-68, 690-91). The auto was impounded and towed to a garage where the auto and contents were inventoried and processed for latent fingerprints (R. Vol. IV 625-27).

An autopsy was performed on the victim's body on January 10, 1978, by the Seminole County medical examiner who had pronounced death at the scene (R. Vol. V 853-54). Dr. Garay estimated the death occurred between approximately 2:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. on January 9, 1978 (R. Vol. V 857-59, 915-17) due to massive internal and external blood loss (R. Vol. V 886-88). He testified that death could have been caused either by the neck wound or by a perforating stab wound of the liver (R. Vol. V 888) but that he believed that the slash wound to the neck was the first to be inflicted (R. Vol. V 892, 922, 932). Dr. Garay further stated that death would have ensued within approximately one minute (R. Vol. V 890, 923) and that all other wounds were inflicted wither post-mortem or when the victim was unconscious (R. 923, 934, 942, 949-50).

During the autopsy, Dr. Garay took a photograph of the victim (R. Vol. V 855) and samples of pubic hair (R. Vol. V 863) and blood (R. Vol. V 880). Tests were performed to determine the presence of acid phosphotase, which was strongly

positive (R. Vol. V 881-82), and of spermatozoa, which was negative (R. Vol. V 883, 938).

The State's witnesses established that on the morning of the death of Earline Walker that she had been employed as a night clerk at the Little Champs convenience store near Spring Oaks Boulevard in Forest City, Florida (R. Vol. IV 496, 506, 552). The victim waited on a customer in the store at approximately 2:45 a.m. on January 9, 1978 (R. Vol. IV 508), but both she and her car were missing when Officer George Aldrich of the Altamonte Springs Police Department made his regular patrol at approximately 3:30 a.m. (R. Vol. IV 519). Officer Aldrich also discovered that the doors to the store were locked (R. Vol. IV 520). The store manager, John DeBoer, was contacted and entered the store with Officer Aldrich and his supervisor sometime after 4:00 a.m. where they found a radio playing and a coffee pot turned on. A cold cup of coffee was on the counter and the clerk's sweater was on a back shelf; the cash register drawer was open and all the bills had been removed from the register and the safe (R. Vol. IV 520-22, 555-56, 579).

According to the manager, the safe should have held money bags containing bills and possibly food stamps (R. Vol. IV 556). Upon performing an inventory, Mr. DeBoer established that the sum of \$574.41 was missing from the store (R. Vol. IV 559-62). He testified that store policy prohibited his clerks from

accepting denominations in excess of \$20.00 but that occasionally \$50.00 bills were negotiated (R. Vol. IV 570-71).

Virginia Vaughn, the afternoon clerk at the store, testified that she had used food stamps to buy several items on January 7 and 8, 1978. She had torn out the coupons from individual booklets with serialized numbers simultaneously with her purchases and placed them either in the store's cash register or floor safe (R. Vol. IV 693-702). She turned the stamp booklets over to the Altamonte Springs Police Department when she realized that her stubs matched the numbers of those being sought by the police (R. Vol. IV 699-700, 703-08).

The food coupons themselves were found in Robert Preston's bedroom trash can pursuant to a consent search authorized by his mother. Robert Preston, along with his younger brothers, Scott and Todd, lived with their mother at the time the offense was committed (R. Vol. VI 1021-29).

Scott Preston and Scott's girlfriend, Donna Maxwell, testified that they spent the evening of January 8, 1978, at his mother's home along with his brothers, Todd and Robert (R. Vol. IV 770, Vol. VII 1389). They passed the early part of the evening watching television and smoking marijuana (R. Vol. IV 771-73, Vol. VII 1391-92) and then Scott and Donna retired at about 11:30 p.m. to his mother's bedroom. The mother had spent the night at the home of her boyfriend (R. Vol. IV 773, Vol. VII 1390). About an hour after retiring to the bedroom, Robert Preston

knocked on the bedroom door in an effort to convince Scott to go with him to the Parliament House "to get some money." (R. Vol. IV 774-75, Vol. V 805, Vol. VIII 1414-15). When Scott declined, Robert Preston asked Scott and Donna to "hold him off" so that he could inject some PCP (R. Vol. V 805, Vol. VII 1399, Vol. VIII 1411). Both Donna and Scott refused (R. Vol. V 805, Vol. V 826-28, Vol. VIII 1411) but each had known Robert Preston to be a user of PCP and other drugs for at least four years prior to that night (R. Vol. V 807-08, Vol. VII 1399-1404). After Scott and Donna declined this invitation, they heard the door slam as Robert Preston left the house (R. Vol. IV 775, Vol. VIII 1414-15).

Both Scott Preston and Donna Maxwell admitted that they had ingested PCP in the past and that they were familiar with its effects on themselves and others while under the influence of the drug (R. Vol. V 820, Vol. VII 1398, Vol. VIII 1406).

Donna Maxwell and Scott Preston heard Robert Preston return to the home some four hours after his departure (R. Vol. IV 775, Vol. VIII 1416). Robert banged on the door to their bedroom and asked Scott to come out to the living room where he was attempting to count some money. Donna described Robert Preston as being nervous, shaky and excited, saying "I did it," and pulled money out of his pocket (R. Vol. IV 777-78, Vol. V 824). Robert was "acting weird," having trouble talking and dropping the money (R. Vol. V 814, 824, Vol. VIII

and that he "wasn't acting normal at 4:30..." (R. Vol. V 820). Because Robert was unable to correctly total the money after several attempts (R. Vol. IV 778, Vol. VIII 1419), Donna and Scott counted the money for him. The sum came to \$325.00. While they were counting the money, Robert told them that he and a friend, Crazy Kenny, had taken a baseball bat and gone to the bar called the Parliament House where they hit two people on the head and stole the money (R. Vol. IV 779). Robert gave Donna and his brother, Scott, \$25.00 each. Donna and Scott then went back to bed (R. Vol. IV 780). Donna Maxwell also recalled seeing some cigarettes in a red and white package in the living room while she was counting the money (R. Vol. IV 781).

When Donna and Scott awoke again at 8:30 a.m., Robert was not at home. Robert arrived about twenty minutes later and said he had gone to get some cigarettes and told them that he had heard that the body of a woman who worked in a store near their home had been discovered in a field (R. Vol. IV 781-83).

The head security guard for the Parliament House testified that he observed no disturbance nor was any reported to him during his shift on the night of January 8-9, 1978 (R. Vol. V 983-91). He stated, however, that his patrol area did not encompass the interior of the bar which included three separate bars in one complex (R. Vol. V 991). Neither the Orlando Police Department nor the Orange

County Sheriff's Department had records revealing any incident reports respecting any disturbances or robberies at the Parliament House on January 9, 1978 (R. Vol. VII 1225-34). Robert Preston had referred to the Parliament House as a gay bar (R. Vol. IV 779).

Arlene Cobb testified that she was employed as the night supervisor at the Forest Lake Academy Laundry (R. Vol. IV 723). At about 2:15 a.m. on January 9, 1978, she left work and returned by car by way of a Jack in the Box restaurant near Bear Lake Road and State Road 436 (R. Vol. IV 729). As she turned into the driveway of this restaurant she saw Robert Preston standing directly in front of her car. It was about 2:20 a.m. Robert Preston was wearing a plaid CPO jacket and stared at her for approximately 15-20 seconds before stepping out of the way (R. Vol. IV 736). Arlene Cobb said that Robert Preston repeatedly took a few steps and turned to look at her car and then turned toward Forest Road and walked in the direction of Altamonte Springs (R. Vol. IV 737-38). After seeing Robert Preston's picture on television the following day, she eventually made a photographic identification of Robert Preston as the man she had seen at the restaurant (R. Vol. IV 741-43).

Robert Preston was arrested on January 10, 1978, on an unrelated charge and taken into custody of the Seminole County Sheriff (R. Vol. VI 1009, Vol. VIII 1468). As a part of the booking process, Appellant's personal effects and his belt

were removed and placed into a property envelope (R. Vol. VI 1011-12) and his fingerprints were taken (R. Vol. IV 852). At approximately 8:30 p.m, Sheriff's Deputy John Fuller obtained Robert Preston's personal effects from the jail (R. Vol. V 837-38). While inspecting Preston's belt, Deputy Martin La Brusciano recovered a light brown pubic hair entangled in the belt buckle (R. Vol. VI 1151). Microscopic analysis of that hair and a second pubic hair discovered on Preston's jacket, were compared with known samples obtained from Earline Walker. The analysis showed that the two unknown hairs could have originated from Earline Walker (R. Vol. VI 1097-1106). No hair samples other than those of Preston and the victim were compared (R. Vol. VI 1119).

Blood samples taken from the victim and Robert Preston were compared with two stains found on Preston's jacket. No blood was found on any of Preston's other clothing or personal effects (R. Vol. VI 1077-78). One stain found on the back of the jacket was about the size of a silver dollar and exhibited no splatter or drip pattern (R. Vol. VI 1079). The second stain, found on the jacket sleeve, was so small that only blood type "O" was determined (type "O" being found in 45 percent of the population)(R. Vol. VI 1081). The only blood samples taken were those of Robert Preston and the victim (R. Vol. VI 1084-85).

The jacket stain were determined to be human blood and of the same blood type as that of the victim. As to the larger stain, analysis of blood enzymes proved

to be the same enzyme group as those of the victim. The statistical probability of the combined occurrence of the factors so analyzed was approximately one percent.

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