IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT ANTHONY PRESTON, JR.

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC05-781

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
Fla. Bar No. 410519
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX - (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

CLAIM 3

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE REOUEST TO INTERVIEW JURORS.

There was no request to interview the jurors at the trial level, and this claim is procedurally barred. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla.2000); Griffin v. State 866 So. 2d 1, 20-21 (Fla. 2003). This claim was also insufficiently pled as Preston failed to allege juror misconduct which would require interviews. This claim fails for lack of proof. See Schwab v. State, 814 So. 2d 402, 406 (Fla. 2002).

Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar prohibits a lawyer from initiating communication with any juror regarding a trial with which the lawyer is connected, except to determine whether the verdict may be subject to legal challenge. The rule provides that the lawyer "may not interview the jurors for this purpose unless the lawyer has reason to believe that grounds for such challenge may exist." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.5(d)(4). Before conducting such an interview, the lawyer must file a notice of intent to interview, setting forth the name of the juror to be interviewed. The lawyer must also deliver copies of the notice to the trial judge and opposing counsel a reasonable time before the interview. This Court has cautioned "against permitting jury interviews to support post-conviction relief" for allegations which focus upon jury deliberations.

Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d 206, 210 (Fla.1992) (stating that "it is a well settled rule that a verdict cannot be subsequently impeached by conduct which inheres in the verdict and relates to the jury's deliberations"). The trial court held:

The Defendant alleges in his eighth claim that Florida's rule prohibiting defense counsel from interviewing jurors violates equal protection and due process and the First, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. claim is procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal. Id. Notwithstanding, the Defendant has failed to present any evidence of juror misconduct in this case and there is no report by a juror or anyone else that the jurors considered extrinsic matters. Therefore, he has not shown that he has been prejudiced by this rule. This is alternative and secondary to the procedural bar holding, which is an adequate and independent basis for the denial of relief. Post-conviction relief should be denied as to this claim.

(SRVol. 13, R2126). This finding is supported by the record.

CLAIM 4

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN HIS RULINGS REGARDING THE MISSING STATE ATTORNEY FILES

Preston alleges in the caption that the trial court erred in denying his claim about missing State Attorney files, but fails to inform what relief could possibly be granted. Preston admits there was no intentional action on the part of the State and there is no indication the missing files contained exculpatory evidence (Initial Brief at 53). The trial court held:

The Defendant's first claim is that he was denied effective representation for lack of access to public records. Despite the deposition testimony on the first trial indicating several files from the State Attorney's Office were missing, the Defendant has failed to show the missing files contain anything exculpatory. While the State Attorney is under a continuing duty to disclose the records, they have made a reasonable and diligent search for those files. Post-conviction relief should be denied as to this claim.

(SRVol. 13, 2124). These findings are supported by substantial competent evidence. Generally, this Court's standard of review following the denial of a postconviction claim where the trial court has conducted an evidentiary hearing affords deference to the trial court's factual findings. *McLin v. State*, 827 So. 2d 948, 954 n.4 (Fla. 2002). "As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.'" *Blanco v. State*, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997) (quoting Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984)).

The deposition testimony showed that a 1978 file from the State Attorney=s Office was lost somewhere between the State Attorney=s office and Iron Mountain storage facility. There was no showing the file was intentionally destroyed or there was any bad faith. The only argument in the Rule 3.851 motion was that the State Attorney failed to provide complete records. Preston

has alleged no bad faith or misconduct. He has not alleged this is a $Brady^8$ claim or that there is anything exculpatory in the files. The depositions which were introduced at the evidentiary hearing conclusively establish that Preston is entitled to no relief. See Provenzano v. State 739 So. 2d 1150, 1153 (Fla. 1999).

Troy Arias, general manager of Iron Mountain records management, was contacted by the Seminole County State Attorneys office regarding Prestons records All the records had been Aretrieved@ and were not at their location (SR Vol.12, 2019). Iron Mountain kept the records for the state attorney and the public defender in Seminole County (SR Vol.12, 2020, 2024). It was possible the files were at Iron Mountain, but Arias could not be certain (SR Vol.12, 2022). There were over 360 cartons received from the State Attorney office the same day the Preston file was received (SR Vol.12, 2023). It would be possible to look though the 362 boxes to try to find the missing state attorney file (SR Vol.12, 2023, 2034).

Jean McCarthy also worked at Iron Mountain storage as an administrator. She found one log with information on Preston files. The entry showed one carton was in the possession of the State Attorney=s office. (SR Vol.12, 1973). It could be possible

⁸Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

a file was misfiled or the State Attorney failed to list a file. McCarthy had no idea where the files could be. There were 360 cartons filed with Iron Mountain the day the Preston files were delivered. (SR Vol.12, 1975). It would take approximately one week to go through all the boxes (SR Vol.12, 1976). Iron Mountain keeps a record of all files that are destroyed or purged. (SR Vol.12, 1983). McCarthy did not go through the records to determine whether any Preston files had been destroyed. (SR Vol.12, 1984). When Iron Mountain received a request from the State Attorney office to find the Preston file, they conducted a search for all files under APreston. (SR Vol.12,

Iron Mountain also stored the public defender files for Preston. (SR Vol.12, 1974). There were 13 boxes of public defender files for APreston.@ (SR Vol.12, 1992). McCarthy looked through those boxes. (SR Vol.12, 1994-95). The searches done by Iron Mountain and a record of the files were attached as an exhibit to McCarthy=s deposition.

Chris White, State Attorney Chief of Operations, testified about what would have been in the State Attorney files (SR Vol.12, 1884). First-degree murder cases were supposed to be kept on the premises and not shipped to Iron Mountain (SR Vol.12, 1888, 1894). The state attorney would not send their file to the Attorney General—s office, the agency which perfects

the appeals in capital cases (SR Vol.12, 1896). Apparently, the 1981 trial file was lost before the 1991 re-sentencing (SR Vol.12, 1888, 1894). The prosecutor had to copy the files from the sheriffs office for the 1991 proceeding (SR Vol.12, 1894). White found one box of files which he allowed CCRC to examine a month before the deposition (SR Vol.12, 1888). There could be witness files missing because the alphabetical listing stopped at AP.@ (SR Vol.12, 1889). Mr. White listed the items that were in the box (SR Vol.12, 1890-91). It appeared the preparation files were missing (SR Vol.12, 1891). White had made efforts to locate the missing files (SR Vol.12, 1891).

Doreen Ferchland, file room clerk at the State Attorney office, tracks the files on the computer (SR Vol.12, 1932). There was no record on the Preston file except for a request from Carol (SR Vol.12, 1938). When Prestons files were requested, she found two boxes in the file room. (SR Vol.12, 1935). Ferchland did not know where the missing files were. She had been working for the state attorney since 1993 and knew the files were in the file room, but had no reason to look inside the box (SR Vol.12, 1942). Ferchland called Miss Tee when they were looking for the Preston files. She was told there was nothing there. (SR Vol. 12, 1943). There was a record of a request from Iron Mountain (formerly known as Florida Data Bank) by a Susan Richards in 1990. At that time the Preston file was

not in the box it was supposed to be in (SR Vol. 12, 1948). Attached to the deposition was a copy of a record from Florida Data Bank showing File ID 78-0038 marked as Anot in box@ (SR Vol. 12, 1957).

Carol Floyd, Mr. Whites secretary, looked for the Preston files. She was told there were two boxes in the office (SR Vol. 12, 1916). She requested the file from Iron Mountain (SR Vol. 12, 1917). Because of limited storage space, files had to be sent to Iron Mountain for storage. Floyd did not know when the Preston file was sent out for storage (SR Vol. 12, 1919).

This evidence shows that there was no violation of the public records law and no intentional destruction of evidence. This case is now 28 years old. It is unfortunate that the filing system failed. The trial judge dealt with the situation appropriately by acknowledging the State's continued duty to disclose the records if they are ever located. There was no error in the trial judge rulings.

CLAIM 5

LETHAL INJECTION DOES NOT CONSTITUTE CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Preston claims that lethal injection is cruel and unusual punishment. This issue was Claim 37 in the amended motion for postconviction relief. The trial court held:

The Defendant asserts in his thirty-seventh claim that execution by lethal injection is cruel and unusual.

This should have been raised on direct appeal and as such is procedurally barred. *Id.* Additionally, the courts have rejected this claim. See *Sims V. Florida*, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000). This is alternative and secondary to the procedural bar holding, which is an adequate and independent basis for the denial of relief Post-conviction relief should be denied as to this claim.

(SRVol. 13, 2132).

Florida enacted a lethal injection option statute six years ago. See Fla. Stat. § 922.105(1) (as amended by 2000 Fla. Sess. Law Serv. Ch. 00-2 (S.B. No. $10A \S 2$) (West)); see also, Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657, 663 n.11 (Fla. 2000). In Sims, an extensive evidentiary hearing was conducted in the trial court on the lethal injection procedures in Florida and the Florida Supreme Court held that "the procedures for administering the not violate lethal injection do the Eighth prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment." 754 So. 2d at 668. Preston does not claim that the lethal injection chemicals or procedures used by Florida have changed during the past six years.

Moreover, in the past few weeks, the Florida Supreme Court has affirmed the summary denial of similar "lethal injection" post-conviction claims filed by other death row inmates. See, Hill v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S31 (Fla. Jan. 17, 2006); Rutherford v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S59 (Fla. Jan. 27, 2006) (same). There is no reason for Preston to conclude that the

trial court in this case would apply the Florida Supreme Court's recent, controlling authority in *Hill* and *Rutherford*.

Although the United States Supreme Court is presently examining a federal procedural issue in both *Hill* and *Rutherford*, that federal procedural issue does not affect this Court's ruling. In *Hill v. Crosby*, Case No. 05-8794, the Supreme Court granted certiorari on January 25, 2006, to review the following procedural questions:

Whether a complaint brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 by a death-sentence state prisoner, who seeks to stay his execution in order to pursue a challenge to the chemicals utilized for carrying out the execution, is properly recharacterized as a habeas corpus petition under 28 U.S.C. Sec. 2254?

Whether, under [the Supreme Court's] decision in Nelson [Nelson v. Campbell, 541 U.S. 637 (2004)], a challenge to a particular protocol the State plans to use during the execution process constitutes a cognizable claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1883?

Hill, a Florida death row inmate under an active death warrant, challenged his execution by lethal injection by filing a suit in federal court for declaratory and injunctive relief under 42 U.S.C. §1983. Both the District Court and the Eleventh Circuit treated Hill's §1983 complaint as the functional equivalent of a successive habeas petition and dismissed it.

A "grant of certiorari does not constitute new law." See,
Ritter v. Thigpen, 828 F.2d 662, 665-66 (11th Cir. 1987). Even

in a case where a scheduled execution is imminent, the grant of certiorari alone is not enough to change the law. See Robinson v. Crosby, 358 F.3d 1281, 1284 (11th Cir. 2004); See also, Thomas v. Wainwright, 788 F.2d 684, 689 (11th Cir. 1986) ("any implications to be drawn [from a grant of certiorari in another case] may be discerned by application to the Supreme Court") (citation omitted); Rutherford v. Crosby, 19 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C238 (11th Cir. Jan. 30, 2006) [addressing collected cases on the issue of stay and explaining that even if Rutherford's Florida's challenge three-chemical process in to lethal injection was cognizable in a §1983 action, Rutherford's request for injunctive relief was properly denied on equitable grounds because of unnecessary delay], application for stay granted by Rutherford v. Crosby, 2006 U.S. LEXIS 1082 (U.S., Jan. 2006). However, the uniquely procedural federal §1983 questions presented in Hill and Rutherford are not at issue in Preston's state postconviction proceeding.

This Court has consistently rejected this claim. Cole v. State, 841 So. 2d 409, 430 (Fla. 2003); Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 17 (Fla. 2003); Provenzano v. State, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000); Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000); Bryan v. State, 753 So. 2d 1244, 1253 (Fla. 2000). Preston offers no compelling reason to change state law.

CLAIM 6

PRESTON'S SENTENCE OF DEATH DOES NOT VIOLATE RING V. ARIZONA

Preston filed Claim 42 in a supplement to his amended motion to vacate. This claim addresses the U.S. Supreme Court case of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). This issue is procedurally barred and has no merit. This Court has consistently held that, unlike the situation in Arizona, the statutory maximum sentence for the crime of first degree murder in Florida is death. Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 1015 (2001). The trial court found:

Finally, the Defendant argues in his forty-second claim that his judgment and sentence of death must be vacated in light of *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428,153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2003). The Florida Supreme Court has denied such a claim for relief. See *Robinson v. State* 865 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 2004).

(SRVol. 13, 2134).

The United States Supreme Court's decision in Schriro v. Summerlin, 542 U.S. 348 (2004), held that the decision in Ring is not retroactive. A majority of this Court has also concluded that Ring does not apply retroactively in Florida to cases that are final, under the test of Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). See Johnson v. State, 904 So. 2d 400, 412 (Fla. 2005). Accordingly, Preston's Ring claims are procedurally barred in these postconviction proceedings.

Further, this Court has rejected similar claims that *Ring* requires aggravating circumstances be alleged in the indictment or individually found by a unanimous jury verdict. See *Blackwelder v. State*, 851 So. 2d 650, 654 (Fla. 2003); *Porter v. Crosby*, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003). Thus, Preston is not entitled to postconviction relief on his *Ring* claims. *Walls v. State*, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S51 (Fla. Feb. 9, 2006).

Furthermore, the trial court found the aggravating circumstance of during-a-kidnapping, thus taking Preston outside the application of Ring. A unanimous jury found Preston guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of kidnapping, thereby satisfying the mandates of the United States and Florida Constitutions. See Kimbrough v. State, 886 So. 2d 965, 984 (Fla. 2004); Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 963 (Fla.), cert. denied, 539 U.S. 962 (2003).

CLAIM 7

THE CLAIM REGARDING TRIAL COUNSEL'S EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND HAS NO MERIT.

Preston argues that the trial court erred in denying this claim without a hearing but makes no specific allegations as to how counsel was ineffective. The entire text of the original Claim 41 which was denied without prejudice in the September 19, 2000, order was:

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